

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases

journal homepage: www.onlinepcd.com

Progress in Caroliovascular Diseases

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic: With hindsight what lessons can we learn?



Mark Faghy ^{a,c,*}, Ross Arena ^{a,c}, Andrew P. Hills ^{c,d}, James Yates ^{a,c}, Amber L. Vermeesch ^{c,e}, Barry A. Franklin ^{c,f}, Dejana Popovic ^{c,g,i}, Lindsey Strieter ^{b,c}, Carl J. Lavie ^{c,h}, Andy Smith ^c

^a School of Human Sciences, University of Derby, Derby, UK

^b Department of Physical Therapy, College of Applied Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

^c Healthy Living for Pandemic Event Protection (HL – PIVOT) Network, Chicago, IL, USA

^d School of Health Sciences, University of Tasmania, Tasmania, Australia

^e Department of Family and Community Nursing, School of Nursing, University of North, Carolina Greensboro, Greensboro, NC, USA

^f Preventive Cardiology and Cardiac Rehabilitation, Beaumont Health, Royal Oak, MI, USA

^g University Clinical Center of Serbia, Clinic for Cardiology, Belgrade, Serbia

h Department of Cardiovascular Diseases, John Ochsner Heart and Vascular Institute, Ochsner Clinical School-University of Queensland School of Medicine, New Orleans, LA, USA

ⁱ Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Physical activity Unhealthy lifestyle Social distancing School-based interventions Obesity Wellbeing

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this paper is to put forward some evidence-based lessons that can be learned from how to respond to a Pandemic that relate to healthy living behaviours (HLB). A 4-step methodology was followed to conduct a narrative review of the literature and to present a professional practice vignette. The narrative review identified 8 lessons: 1) peer review; 2) historical perspectives; 3) investing in resilience and protection; 4) unintended consequences; 5) protecting physical activity; 6) school closures; 7) mental health; and 8) obesity. As in all probability there will be another Pandemic, it is important that the lessons learned over the last three years in relation to HLB are acted upon. Whilst there will not always be a consensus on what to emphasise, it is important that many evidence-based positions are presented. The authors of this paper recognise that this work is a starting point and that the lessons presented here will need to be revisited as new evidence becomes available.

© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

Introduction	
Methods	7
The narrative review	7
NR Cluster A: higher order lessons	7
NR Cluster B lessons directly related to HLB and lifestyle	'9
NR Cluster C lessons that can be learned that relate to health outcomes	'9
NR Conclusion	
Vignette	30
Lessons Learned from the Lingering COVID-19 Pandemic: Need for Greater Self-Responsibility.	
Population disparities	30
Misguided governmental responses, medical misinformation and constitutional rights	30
Pandemic of the unvaccinated.	30
Health of the US before the pandemic? 8	30
Need for greater self-responsibility	31

Abbreviations: CRF, Cardiorespiratory fitness; COVID-19, Coronavirus disease 2019; HL, Healthy living; HLB, Healthy living behaviours; METs, Metabolic equivalents; NR, Narrative Review; PA, Physical activity; QoL, Quality of life; VO₂, Oxygen consumption; UK, United Kingdom; US, United States.

* Corresponding author at: Biomedical Research Theme, School of Human Sciences, University of Derby, England, UK.

E-mail address: M.Faghy@Derby.ac.uk (M. Faghy).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2022.11.019

0033-0620/© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

.

Exercise, PA and cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF).	81
Obesity and dietary intake	81
Smoking and secondhand smoke	81
Vignette conclusion	
Concluding reflections.	
References	82

Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to add to the emerging literature¹ that reflects on what, with hindsight, healthcare professionals, policy makers, and researchers could have done better in response to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. This paper does not seek to apportion blame to those, who with the benefit of hindsight, could have done things differently. Rather, this work seeks to help learn lessons from the Pandemic in the hope that next time things will be done better and adds to the work of others who are attempting to do the same.²

There are many different types of lessons that could be learned from the Pandemic. They include lessons related to medicine, economics, sociology, politics, and international relations. Here our focus is on the lessons that can be learned that relate to healthy living (HL) behaviours (HLB), quality of life (QoL), wellbeing, and non-communicable diseases as studied and promoted through the Healthy Living for Pandemic Event Protection (HL- PIVOT) network.

Methods

As described in detail below, a 4-step methodology was followed to ensure the quality of the work and to triangulate the conclusions.

Step 1: An international and interdisciplinary authorship Team was recruited through the HL- PIVOT network.³ The overarching goal of this network is to promote human resilience and quality of life by increasing HLB. This step helped ensure the quality of the work as it brought together an interdisciplinary Team of authors with a range of experiences and professional insights. The international dimension of the Team helped triangulate the perspective reported here as each of the countries 'represented' had different responses to the Pandemic.

Step 2: A narrative review (NR) of the emerging literature, which is challenging and contesting the response to the Pandemic, was conducted by following authors: DP, LS, AH, RA and AS. A NR was used rather than a systematic review and/or meta-analysis because: i) the literature in this area has yet to mature; ii) we wanted to purposefully select from a range of qualitative and quantitative sources; and iii) this approach better suited our aim to present a short historical overview. By conducting this review, the authors were able to compare their own thinking with that of other scholars past and present.

Step 3: One of the authors (BF) drafted a reflective practice vignette based on his reading of the literature and experiences during the Pandemic.

Step 4: Through the project, drafts of the paper were circulated to all members of the Authorship Team for comment and to identify: i) points of consensus; and ii) any differences of emphases. AV, RA, MF, AS and JY contributed to the manuscript as a whole and had a particular responsibility for taking this step. This was done largely through emails and the use of a shared drive but culminated in all Authors reviewing and revising the final draft.

It is important to note that this methodology was designed to allow many evidence-based views to be heard rather than to reach a consensus on every point. That is why we have been clear about which authors drafted which section.

The narrative review

The method used to construct the NR created a bibliography that we considered relevant. Work was considered relevant if it addressed: i) lessons that could be learned from the Pandemic; and ii) was directly or indirectly linked to healthy living behaviours.

To ensure that a broad range of sources were reviewed, and whilst giving precedence to peer-reviewed journal papers, books were also included.

The literature was read, and selected papers are reported in three clusters. Cluster A addresses four 'higher order lessons' that are applicable to a range of settings and professions. Cluster B relates directly to lessons that can be learned about HLB [e.g., physical activity (PA), sedentary behaviour]. Cluster C relates to lessons that can be learned that relate to possible outcomes (e.g., obesity, depressive symptoms) that may have resulted from changes in HLB. These clusters are not discrete, and the lessons identified in each are interlinked. A theme that links many of them is the potential for damage to mental and physical health, education and general wellbeing by the measures put in place to control the Pandemic.

The strengths of the literature reviewed here are that they are international and multidisciplinary. Additionally, the literature is contemporaneous with the Pandemic and therefore, has an immediacy and sense of urgency.

The weaknesses of the existing literature reviewed here include a lack of interdisciplinary perspectives. Whilst the literature includes work from multiple disciplines, individual papers lack true interdisciplinary thinking and authorship teams, methodologies, and analysis. In addition, the work is by its very nature, post-hoc, as it reviews what happened after the event rather than being established at the start of the Pandemic with evaluation in mind. More contentiously, within the work, there is little evidence of authors reflecting on how the Pandemic changed their thinking or discussion about what they themselves might have done differently. Closely related to these observations, there is a danger that within the health-related professions, 'group think' may be occurring.

NR Cluster A: higher order lessons

NR Lesson 1 - Peer Review, Publish Quickly but with rigorous vetting of data and viewpoints and Provide Open Access: The Pandemic had an impact on the publication of scientific and medical papers. Three Pandemic impacts can be identified. First the sheer number of papers and books on COVID-19 published since January 2020 is staggering and at this point defies simple characterisation and summary. Secondly, the speed at which both empirical data was collected and published, and opinions formed and shared, was at an unprecedented pace. On the positive side, this speed enabled the rapid development of, for example, vaccines, and is to be commended. However, moving forward, care needs to be taken to ensure that haste does not undermine the opportunity for high-quality peer review and resulting literature. The substantial immediate benefit of disseminating results quickly does not have to be at the cost of long-term damage to the peer review process - if the risk is identified and mitigated appropriately. The importance of peer review is emphasised when it is reported, for example, that President Lukashenko of Belarus informed his population that COVID-19

M. Faghy, R. Arena, A.P. Hills et al.

could be defeated by 'drinking vodka'.⁴ Suggestions such as this are alarming given the propensity of individuals with irrational beliefs to engage in pseudoscience practices, and have reduced vaccination intention and adherence to follow official COVID-19 guidelines.⁵ Thirdly, many Journals made all papers related to the Pandemic open access for which they should be applauded. This precedence should become a standard practice for global health crises in the future.

NR Lesson 2 - Learn from the Past: With great foresight in 2016, McMillen⁶ wrote "very often history is forgotten or rediscovered only when we confront contemporary epidemics and pandemics, and thus patterns from the past are repeated thoughtlessly" (page 1). As Fig. 1 illustrates, COVID-19 was not the first-time humankind has encountered a Pandemic. Despite these historical Pandemics, arguably, when COVID-19 struck, it appeared to arrive as a complete surprise. Why else would so many governments, health care systems and professions appear to have been so unprepared. The delayed implementation of control measures internationally manifested despite widely observed preceding inter-country spread of the virus.⁷ A key takeaway is in the knowledge that another Pandemic will occur, and we should urgently prepare for it by learning all possible lessons from COVID-19. This paper is part of that global endeavour which includes, for example, the Public Enquiry into the Pandemic being conducted by the United Kingdom (UK) government.

As well as learning from previous Pandemics, other historical events provide an opportunity to learn. For example, during the German bombing of London during the Second World War ('The Blitz'), the British Government introduced a night-time blackout to prevent the Luftwaffe using the City's lights to target the area. It is reported that this well-intentioned action led to a massive increase in road deaths with a suggestion in the British Medical Journal that it killed 600 people a month.²

NR Lesson 3 – Invest in Resilience, Wellbeing, and Protection: The Pandemic shone a bright and uncomfortable light on the lack of resilience, wellbeing, and unpreparedness of many countries' health systems, and their populations. National stockpiles of personal protective equipment might be part of the solution along with ensuring that countries have the necessary infrastructure to manufacture their own basic medical and health equipment. In addition, nations need to invest in improved methods of communication between government departments and the public. To tackle future Pandemics, societies need the capacity to adopt "whole of society" approaches which mobilise the contribution of all for the benefit of all. The challenges of coping with future Pandemics necessitates parallel disruptions to prevention and management, including novel behavioural insights to address poor behaviours, including panic buying and sedentary behaviours.⁸

NR Lesson 4 – Beware of Unintended Consequences: As well as producing the intended outcomes, any action tends to result in unintended consequences. Arguably the most significant one during the Pandemic has been the politicisation of public health.⁹ This was perhaps most evident in the United States (US) where mask wearing became, and may still be, a hotly contested political issue.

Another unintended consequence was how social distancing mandates negatively impacted initiatives to promote PA. The initial assumption being mandates that limited PA would decrease viral transmission, an assumption that following further analysis was proven to be false; "most traced contagions diagnosed after lock-down mitigation continued to happen inside closed communities [May 1–20: 49.5% nursing homes; 24.3% private houses; 7.2% hospitals—June 1–30: 35.1% nursing homes; 24.6% private houses/ relatives; 6.6% hospitals (2020)]".⁹

By their very nature, unintended consequences are unpredictable - the lesson here is to ensure that any action is well-thought-out and that group think is avoided. In addition, from time to time the inclination to act may need to be tempered by an acknowledgment that sometimes doing nothing may be the right course of action.



78

NR Cluster B lessons directly related to HLB and lifestyle

NR Lesson 5 – Protect PA Levels: The evidence that physical inactivity and living a sedentary lifestyle is a major cause of disease and lower QoL is well established.¹⁰ Before the Pandemic, many countries and organisations were taking steps to increase levels of PA, although many of these initiatives have not been as successful as hoped. In addition, exercise was being used in a range of clinical settings as a means of both presurgical preparation and rehabilitation from, for example, coronary heart disease. In many countries, sport and fitness are large parts of both the economy and cultural life of the nation. PA, exercise, sport, and fitness can, therefore, be seen as crucial elements of the health and wellbeing of a nation. Prior to early 2020, who could have imagined that across the world people would be confined to their homes, gyms and rehabilitation services would be closed, and outdoor public spaces shut? Not surprisingly, lockdowns resulted in an inevitable reduction in levels of PA and patients being unable to access clinical exercise rehabilitation programs.¹¹ Any benefits that accrued from lockdowns in terms of reducing the rate of transmission of COVID-19, need to be offset by the cost of reducing levels of PA. Such a cost-benefit analysis has yet to be conducted and will be challenging to perform because of the different timescales on which COVID-19 disease burden and physical inactivity impact the health of both individuals and populations and should recognise that the cost-benefit may differ across groups. Infection by the COVID-19 virus results in illness and sometimes death within days, or results in long-lasting, yet-to-be determined deleterious health effects, whilst the results of low levels of PA and sedentary living may take years or decades to accrue. This time difference in negative effect may account for many governments acting in ways that resulted in a relatively quick reduction in the reproduction rate of the virus whilst potentially sabotaging the long-term health of many by reducing their levels of PA.

NR Lesson 6 – Keep Schools Open: At the start of the Pandemic, it was understandable, and necessary to prevent viral spread, that many countries closed their schools. However, our actions to continue shutdowns and remote schooling long after it was known that infections and death rates from COVID-19 among children were low¹² was, with hind-sight, perhaps not the ideal approach. Lewis et al¹³ stated "Children have least to gain and most to lose from school closures. This Pandemic has seen unprecedented intergenerational transfer of harm and costs from elderly socioeconomically privileged people to disadvantaged children".

During the Pandemic in the US, overall leading causes of death for children ages 0–14 remained consistent (i.e., unintentional injury and cancers).¹⁴ Concurrently, the number of suicides and hospitalizations due to mental health issues increased. In 2020, the second leading cause of death, behind unintentional injury, for ages 5–9 and 10–18 was suicide.¹⁵ More and more, children are being hospitalized for mental health issues including depression and anxiety.¹⁶

In addition to the mental health effects, children's nutrition has suffered. In many countries, schools provide nutritious food to low-income families through various government initiatives. When schools shut down, so does access to these programs. In the US, food insecurity increased by 4% from March 2020 to July 2020.¹⁷ Most likely from fear of contracting COVID-19 from grocery stores, more and more families resorted to ordering food, resulting in an increase in the purchasing of packaged foods and consumption of less fresh fruits and vegetables.¹⁸

Remote schooling, remote programming, and shut-downs of afterschool activities also contributed to a reduction in children's PA and fitness.¹⁹ With an increase in screen time came a decrease in PA. Other children lost access to physical education altogether. Sports and physical extracurriculars were also put on hold.

Goldfeld et al ²⁰ made an important contribution to the issues explored here through their narrative review on the impact of the Pandemic on children's health. Taking Australia as its starting point, a country that had some of the strictest restrictions in place, they identified 11 potential negative impacts of these restrictions on young people. Negative impacts were grouped in the following clusters: i) child-level factors; ii) family-level factors; and iii) service-level factors. In stating that "these restrictions are having immediate and likely longer term adverse consequences on children's developmental potential" (page 364), Goldfeld et al. adds to the commentary of many researchers globally from different disciplines who have expressed concerns about the adverse impact the Pandemic is having on children and adolescents.^{21–23}

Individually, the impacts of the Pandemic and school closures on healthy living behaviours is a major cause for concern, when combined with childhood obesity, the full scale of the problem becomes worry-ingly apparent.²⁴ To address the damage that has been done to children by the Pandemic and lockdowns calls have begun for recovery plans for children, see for example Gauvin et al.²⁵ Of course, not just children have suffered from the closure of schools but parents, and particularly mothers, had to take on the responsibility of teachers which many found had a negative impact on their mental health.²⁶ It would be remiss of researchers to not continue to monitor and assess the long term effects of this period on young people and their families following such an unprecedented compromise of public health.

NR Cluster C lessons that can be learned that relate to health outcomes

NR Lesson 7 - Protect Mental Health: Whilst the evidence on the impact of the Pandemic on mental health is still emerging, a negative impact is clearly apparent.^{27,28} Many people went through illness and spent days in lockdown feeling anxious and fearing for their own health and for that of loved ones. A meta-analysis showed that COVID-19 quarantine had varying impacts on psychological stress, regardless of country of origin.²⁹ Every age category was hit: i) children sharply changed their environment, some were separated from their families, isolated and demonstrated increased mental health disruption³⁰; ii) adolescents had a higher frequency of using alcohol and cannabis and particularly negative mental health impact was prominent among adolescents in one-parent, one-child, and low-income households; and iii) adults exhibited diverse mental health problems and the elderly were particularly under the risk due to self-integration, self-efficacy, and resilience issues.³¹ The Pandemic poisonous polypill included not only illness and fatigue, but physical inactivity, mental stress, loss of family members, financial and food insecurities, isolation, loneliness, reduced or no access to social networks, travel restrictions, lockdowns, work from home, and general uncertainty leading to diverse stress-related conditions.³² Limited or no access to mental health services further worsened the situation. There were no organized and planned healthy living programs to combat Pandemic related physical and mental health issues. Some countries recognized the problem and attempted to intervene to combat mental health issues, however it was often sporadic and insufficient.³³ Many vulnerable population groups were forgotten including those with pre-existing mental health conditions and those with learning difficulties.³⁴ If in response to future Pandemics lockdowns are imposed, it is important that compensatory measures are put in place to protect the mental health of the population. Besides psychosocial support, implementation of training programs, guidelines and system level protocols, the measures should include the implementation of pre-planned healthy living programs designed to protect mental health which include exercise interventions that have been shown to reduce psychosocial stress.

NR Lesson 8 – Factor in Obesity: Well before the COVID-19 Pandemic, obesity was, and will continue to be, a major global health crisis; it should be considered a Pandemic in its own right.³⁵ Very early in the COVID – 19 Pandemic, the risk that lockdowns would make an already major health crisis such as obesity worse, was identified.³⁶ Such a risk should not have been a surprise to anyone given the already well understood multi-factorial nature of obesity. As the prevalence of overweight and obesity continues to rise and impact individuals of all ages, this points to the fact that, as a global community, we have been summarily unsuccessful in preventing unhealthy weight gain. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, we had certainly failed to address the broader biopsychosocial nature of obesity, so with the overlay of an additional Pandemic, many individuals are further compromised, even if we simply consider primary drivers including reduced levels of PA, increases in sedentary behaviour and food insecurity. Evidence is now emerging that these fears were justified, and that obesity, and a range of other health indicators, have worsened over the COVID-19 period.³⁷ For example, there is considerable evidence that in countries with higher levels of obesity, the impact of COVID - 19 has been associated with higher death rates and health complications.³⁸⁻⁴⁴ Unfortunately, COVID-19 has exposed and amplified existing inequalities in society. Marmot and Allen⁴⁵ framed this notion in relation to the UK as "inequalities in COVID-19 and inequalities in the social conditions that lead to inequalities more generally". An ongoing issue for societies will be to address inequalities in health and effectively respond to additional impacts; otherwise, we risk greater challenges over time for a larger proportion of the global population.

NR Conclusion

Of the lessons learned through this NR, the one we attach the most weight to is the need in future Pandemics (and other global emergencies), to keep schools open (i.e., lesson 6). Evidently, we cannot say based on the arguments reviewed here what would have happened if we had kept schools open. In forming our view that schools should be kept open, we were of the view that policy makers and others reduced the function of schools to teaching and learning – activities that arguably can be conducted online. This view disregards the essential role schools play in socialisation, cultural transition, and integration. Also, it ignores the importance of 'hands on learning' that is required in a range of subjects including physical education, music, and the arts, and underestimates the important role schools play in ensuring some of our most vulnerable children have access to food, psychological support, and safeguarding services.

In concluding this section of the paper, we are conscious of the fact that it is the nature of any exercise in 'learning lessons' that the focus is on what went wrong and negative outcomes. However, there is a possibility that for some individuals and things that there could be post traumatic growth. People who overcome great challenges can become stronger and societies who tackle common problems can change. Regarding the latter, arguably the Pandemic has put a greater focus on the importance of health and community cohesion. Nonetheless, any positive outcomes from the Pandemic will need nurturing if they are to have a lasting impact.

Vignette

Lessons Learned from the Lingering COVID-19 Pandemic: Need for Greater Self-Responsibility

This vignette and the lessons it contains was drafted by BF. As the Pandemic appears to have shifted into a new phase (e.g., less public lockdowns and social distancing mandates), we should reflect on what we have learned and apply those lessons should other viral mutations or an entirely new Pandemic strike in the future. Although the Pandemic has been particularly devastating in the US, not all citizens were affected equally. Without question, cultural and societal factors placed some demographic, racial, and ethnic groups at increased risk of contracting and dying from COVID-19.⁴⁶

Population disparities

Hispanic, Black, and Native American Indians experienced disproportionately high rates of COVID-19 hospitalizations, with reported rate ratios of 3.0, 2.8, and 3.5, respectively, when compared with their White counterparts.⁴⁷ After adjusting for age, these population subsets also experienced a much higher percentage of the COVID-19 mortality burden relative to their percent of the US population.⁴⁸ This may be partially attributed to the social determinants of health, income and wealth disparities, inequalities in health care access and use, occupational vulnerability (i.e., more face-to-face interactions with the general public), public transportation transmission, and living in multigenerational or multifamily housing.⁴⁹

Rural Americans were more than twice as likely to die from COVID-19 infections than their urban counterparts.⁵⁰ This heightened mortality may be attributed to higher age, lower socioeconomic status, limited access to health care, and a higher incidence of chronic diseases such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Further, because rural Americans tend to express less enthusiasm for vaccine safety and effectiveness, they have lower rates of vaccination against COVID-19.⁵¹

Additionally, the aforementioned demographic groups, as well as other vulnerable populations, including low-income and older Americans (i.e., \geq 65 years of age), confronted the virus with a much higher prevalence of chronic diseases, such as known cardiovascular and pulmonary conditions.⁵² These underlying risk factors, especially in combination, increased the likelihood of getting severely ill from COVID-19.

Misguided governmental responses, medical misinformation and constitutional rights

The COVID-19 Pandemic was initially exacerbated by a delayed, dampened, downplayed governmental response. It provided unprecedented challenges to the medical community, which was further compounded by antiscientific meddling and mishandling of those regulatory agencies responsible for the country's countermeasures.⁵³ To eliminate or reduce panic, Americans were irresponsibly told by some in leadership positions that the end of the virus was just around the corner or that it would magically vanish with the seasonal transition to summer.⁵⁴

Uncertainty abounded. Hydroxychloroquine and Ivermectin were initially promoted as a potential treatment for COVID-19 – a claim that has been subsequently refuted.^{55,56} According to numerous studies, in spite of reported reactions, some serious adverse events, and break-through cases, COVID-19 vaccines are generally safe and highly effective in preventing COVID-19-related hospitalization and death.⁵⁷ Despite considerable evidence that masks block virus transmission and save lives, some argued that they have a "constitutional right" not to wear them, or that wearing a mask exposes the wearer to dangerous levels of carbon dioxide; neither of these suppositions are valid.^{58,59}

Pandemic of the unvaccinated

During a July 2021 White House briefing, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Director Dr. Rochelle Walensky said that a data review by her agency revealed that 99.5% of the people who died from COVID-19 over the past 6 months were unvaccinated.⁶⁰ Similarly, US Surgeon General Dr. Vivek Murthy added that nearly every recent death due to COVID-19 could have been prevented. In an accompanying advisory, Murthy wrote: "Health misinformation is a serious threat to public health. It can cause confusion, sow mistrust, harm people's health, and undermine public health efforts. It's one of several reasons why people are not getting vaccinated."

Health of the US before the pandemic?

In 2018, the US spent approximately \$3.6 trillion on health care – a level of spending that makes the American health care system, by far, the most expensive in the world.⁶¹ Yet, a Commonwealth Fund brief reported that the US had worse health outcomes compared to other high-income countries.

A widely cited study noted that Americans, prior to the pandemic, already had a high prevalence of unhealthy lifestyles, risk factors, and underlying chronic disease, as well as a shorter life expectancy compared with residents of all other high-income countries. Researchers analyzed data from 2 major ongoing cohort studies, the Nurses' Health Study (n =78,865) and the Health Professionals Follow-up Study (n = 44,354) which, when combined with National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey data as well as mortality data from the CDC, were used to estimate life expectancy in the US population. Five low-risk lifestyle factors were considered: not smoking; body mass index 18.5 to 24.0 kg/m²; \geq 30 min/ day of moderate-to-vigorous PA; moderate alcohol intake; and a healthy diet score. During up to 34 years of follow-up, adherence to all 5 lifestyle-related factors significantly increased life expectancy at age 50 years for both men and women, 12.2 and 14.0 years, respectively. The most physically active cohorts of men and women demonstrated 7- to 8year gains in life expectancy!62 The investigators concluded that Americans could narrow the life-expectancy gap between the US and other industrialized countries by adopting a healthier lifestyle, and that prevention should be a top priority for national health policy.

Need for greater self-responsibility

The cost of health care today in the US will soon approach 20% of the gross domestic product (\$1 out of every \$5 spent). It's simply not sustainable! We need to move from what has been referred to as a "reactive sick care system," to a more proactive health care model.⁶³ Consequently, self-responsibility (e.g., regular physical exams, completing health habit surveys and/or serial risk factor profiles, attaining certain risk factor goals) has become a greater priority in the contemporary health care environment.⁶⁴ Both the COVID-19 Pandemic and our poor health as a nation can be improved with a traditional American value: *self-responsibility*.

Failure to take responsibility for our own health unequivocally increases the risks of COVID-19 and leads to many of the underlying chronic diseases that worsen the impact of the virus, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and coronary artery disease.⁶⁵ Small, positive changes in what we eat, how often and vigorously we exercise, and avoiding cigarette smoking can have a profound and favorable effect on preventing and treating illness and disease – and that includes COVID-19. A healthcare model that supports individuals in making positive changes to their health would reduce the impact of chronic and acute conditions while reducing costs to other aspects of the healthcare system.

Exercise, PA and cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF)

Increased levels of PA and structured exercise have positive protective effects that are realized within only days of initiation.⁶⁶ Consistently meeting contemporary PA guidelines (\geq 150 min of moderate-intensity or 75 min of vigorous PA per week, or combinations thereof), is associated with a reduced likelihood for hospitalization, intensive care unit admission, and death among patients with COVID-19.⁶⁷ Higher levels of CRF, expressed as peak oxygen consumption (VO₂) in mLO₂·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ or metabolic equivalents (METs; 1 MET = 3.5 mLO₂·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹), also appear to confer more favorable COVID-19 outcomes.^{68,69} An initial "goal" exercise training intensity \geq 3 METs provides the greatest relative reduction in mortality and improvement in survival.⁷⁰ Using the treadmill exercise mode as an example, this corresponds to walking at 2.0 mph, 3.5% grade, or on the level (0% grade) at 3.0 mph. Thereafter, exercise workloads, expressed as METs, should be progressively increased by using age-, sex-, and fitness adjusted target intensities for training.⁷¹

Obesity and dietary intake

Obesity is a major risk factor for COVID-19 complications due to its adverse effects on type 2 diabetes, immune function, lung capacity

and cardiovascular health.⁷² Nevertheless, among overweight or obese individuals, the health benefits of losing even 5% of body weight have been reported.⁷³ As an example of a dietary approach with a scientifically supported positive impact, the Mediterranean diet, for example, has been shown to elicit significant reductions in body weight and fat stores, systolic blood pressure, and inflammatory markers such as Creactive protein.⁷⁴ In aggregate, these adaptations may help decrease COVID-19 incidence, severity, hospitalization, and mortality. Foods that increase levels of nitric oxide, such as beets, leafy greens, and lean meats such as bison, have also been shown to improve vascular health.⁷⁵ However, these dietary recommendations may be problematic in some underserved, low socioeconomic communities that are disproportionately impacted by the added costs and limited access to healthier foods.

Smoking and secondhand smoke

Because COVID-19 targets the lungs, quitting smoking and avoiding secondhand smoke are imperative. Cigarette smoking is responsible for 540,000 to 600,000 deaths each year. Moreover, on average, life expectancy is shortened by 10 to 12 years among lifelong smokers, as compared with those who never smoked.⁷⁶ Chronic exposure to secondhand smoke also increases the risk of heart disease by ~30%, after adjusting for confounding variables.⁷⁷ Fortunately, city- and country-wide smoking bans have invariably resulted in reduced population rates of cardiovascular events, especially among nonsmokers.⁷⁸

Vignette conclusion

Perhaps the late General Norman Schwarzkopf summed it up best when asked how he would respond to an enemy attack. "Counterattack," he replied. When the enemy is COVID-19 or other viral mutations, the strategy is no different. Adopt a HL, favorably modify your risk factor profile, exercise regularly, and adhere to public health guidelines, as summarized by the 3-Ws: 1) Wait – don't go out if you have symptoms or had close contact with someone who has COVID19; 2) Wash your hands; and 3) Wear a face covering. Perhaps a fourth W can be added – *Walk more*. Most importantly, *get vaccinated and stay up-to-date with booster shots*.

The COVID-19 Pandemic exposed significant disparities within certain population subsets that manifested through greater disease burden and worse outcomes. It became increasingly apparent that barriers to prevention and treatment are often fundamentally embedded within the social determinants of health. Accordingly, we need to equitably address these critical health modulators, including attitudes toward and enthusiasm for vaccine safety and effectiveness, as well as decreasing the incidence/prevalence of unhealthy lifestyles, risk factors, and underlying chronic disease.⁶³

Concluding reflections

This paper set out to learn the lessons from the Pandemic related to healthy living behaviours, quality of life and non-communicable diseases. It did so by conducting a narrative review and through the vignette which was embedded in the literature that was specific to the case in question.

Given the diversity of the authorship team in terms of their nationality, profession, and experiences, naturally individuals placed different emphases on the lessons presented here. For example, whilst all agreed that there needs to be a great focus on both tackling structural inequalities in health and enhancing personal responsibility different authors focused more on one then the other. However, there was agreement that all the lessons presented here need to be heard and reflected on.

Readers are encouraged to work with their colleagues to formally review the lessons that can be learned from their own experiences and thereby to improve our preparedness for the next Pandemic. The authors of this paper recognise that this work is a starting point and that the lesson which are presented here will need to be revisited as and when new evidence is published.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None.

References

- 1. Nuzzo JB, Gostin JD. The first 2 years of COVID-19 lessons to improve preparedness for the next pandemic. JAMA 2022;327(3):217-218.
- Wenham C, Kavanagh M, Torres I, et al. Preparing for the next pandemic. BMJ 2021;373, n1295. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1295.
- Arena R, Lavie CJ. The global path forward healthy living for pandemic event protection (HL – PIVOT). Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2021;64:96-101.W.B. Saunders: https://d oi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.05.008.
- 4. English O. Fake history: ten great lies and how they shaped the world. Welbeck 2021.
- Teovanović P, Lukić P, Zupan Z, et al. Irrational beliefs differentially predict adherence to guidelines and pseudoscientific practices during the COVID-19 pandemic. Appl Cogn Psychol 2021;35(2):486-496. https://doi.org/10.1002/ACP.3770.
- 6. McMillen CW. Pandemics: a very short introduction. Oxford University Press. 2016.
- Khanna RC, Cicinelli MV, Gilbert SS, Honavar SG, Murthy GVS. COVID-19 pandemic: Lessons learned and future directions. Indian J Ophthalmol 2020;68(5):703-710. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJO.IJO_843_20.
- Kader M, et al, eds. How to prepare for the next pandemic behavioural insights for practitioners and policymakers. World Scientific; 2020.
- Federico Ranieri. Actual politics on physical activity challenged by crisis. The Italian case of reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic. Front Sociol 2020:5. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fsoc.2020.566885.
- Booth FW, Roberts CK, Laye MJ. Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. Compr Physiol 2012;2(2):1143-1211. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c110025. PMID: 23798298; PMCID: PMC4241367.
- Arena R, Hall G, Laddu DR, et al. A tale of two pandemics revisited: Physical inactivity, sedentary behavior and poor COVID-19 outcomes reside in the same Syndemic City. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2022;71:69-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2021.11.012. Epub 2021 Nov 24. PMID: 34826425; PMCID: PMC8616569.
- 12. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Provisional COVID-19 deaths: Focus on ages 0–18 years. https://data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Provisional-COVID-19-Deaths-Focus-o n-Ages-0-18-Yea/nr4s-juj3 Updated 2022.
- Lewis SJ, Munro APS, Smith GD, et al. Closing schools is not evidence based and harms children. BMJ 2021;372, n521. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n52.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National center for health statistics, child health. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/child-health.htm Updated 2022. Accessed 4/01/, 2022.
- Suicide Prevention Resource Center. Suicide by age. https://sprc.org/scope/age Updated 2021. Accessed 4/01/, 2022.
- Racine N, McArthur BA, Cooke JE, et al. Global prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents during COVID-19 a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2021;175(11):1142-1150.
- Patrick SW, Henkhaus LE, Zickafoose JS, et al. Well-being of parents and children during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national survey. Pediatrics 2020;146(4), e2020016824. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-016824.
- Litton MMBA. The relationship between food security status and fruit and vegetable intake during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nutrients 2021;13(3):712.
- 19. Chulvi-Medrano I, Villa-González E, Rial-Rebullido T, et al. The impact of COVID-19 quarantine on youth: From physical inactivity to pediatric depreobesity. J mov Health 2021;18(1):1-4.
- Goldfeld S, O'Connor E, Sung V, et al. Potential indirect impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on children: a narrative review using a community child health lens. Med J Aust 2022;216(7):364-372. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.51368.
- Censi L, Ruggeri S, Galfo M, et al. Eating behaviour, physical activity and lifestyle of Italian children during lockdown for COVID-19. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2022;73(1):93-105. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2021.1921127. Epub 2021 May 12. PMID: 33975495: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33975495/.
- Sidor A, Rzymski P. Dietary choices and habits during COVID-19 lockdown: Experience from Poland. Nutrients 2020;12(6):1657. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC7352682/.
- AlMughamis N, AlAsfour S, Mehmood S. Poor eating habits and predictors of weight gain during the COVID-19 quarantine measures in Kuwait: A cross sectional study. F1000Research 2020;9(914):914. https://f1000research.com/articles/9-914.
- Browne NT, Snethen JA, Greenberg CS, et al. When pandemics collide: The impact of COVID-19 on childhood obesity. J Pediatr Nurs 2021;56:90-98. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.pedn.2020.11.004 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7657263/.
- Gauvin L, Barnett TA, Dea C, et al. Quarantots, quarankids, and quaranteens: how research can contribute to mitigating the deleterious impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on health behaviours and social inequalities while achieving sustainable change. Can J Public Health 2022;113(1):53-60. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-021-00569-6. Epub 2022 Jan 28. PMID: 35089590; PMCID: PMC8796597.
- Burns S, Jegatheeswaran C, Perlman M. I felt like i was going crazy: Understanding Mother's and young children's educational experiences at home during COVID-19. Early child Educ J 2022:1-14. Advance online publication: https://doi.org/10.1007/s 10643-022-01306-5.

- The Lancet Psychiatry. COVID-19 and mental health. Lancet Psychiatry 2021;8(2):87. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(21)00005-5. PMID: 33485416; PMCID: PMC7825966.
- Dubey S, Biswas P, Ghosh R, et al. Psychological impact of COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14(5):779-788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.05.035.
- Jin Y, Sun T, Zheng P, et al. Mass quarantine and mental health during COVID-19: A meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2021;295:1335-1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad. 2021.08.067. Epub 2021 Sep 2. PMID: 34706447; PMCID: PMC8674683.
- Newlove-Delgado T, McManus S, Sadler K, et al. Mental health of children and young people group. Child mental health in England before and during the COVID-19 lockdown. Lancet Psychiatry 2021;8(5):353-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366 (20)30570-8. Epub 2021 Jan 11. PMID: 33444548; PMCID: PMC8824303.
- Lee K, Jeong GC, Yim J. Consideration of the psychological and mental health of the elderly during COVID-19: a theoretical review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17(21):8098. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17218098. [PMID: 33153074; PMCID: PMC7663449].
- Kumar A, Nayar KR. COVID 19 and its mental health consequences. J Ment Health 2021;30(1):1-2. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2020.1757052. Epub 2020 Apr 27. PMID: 32339041.
- Liu JJ, Bao Y, Huang X, et al. Mental health considerations for children quarantined because of COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020;4(5):347-349. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30096-1. [Epub 2020 Mar 27. PMID: 32224303; PMCID: PMC7118598].
- Sher T, Stamper GC, Lundy LB. COVID-19 and vulnerable population with communication disorders. Mayo Clin Proc 2020;95(9):1845-1847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mayocp.2020.06.034. [Epub 2020 Jun 29. PMID: 32861328; PMCID: PMC7323656].
- The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology. Obesity: Another ongoing pandemic. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021;6(6):411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253 (21)00143-6.
- Clemmensen C, Petersen MB, Sørensen TIA. Will the COVID-19 pandemic worsen the obesity epidemic? Nat Rev Endocrinol 2020;16:469–470. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41574-020-0387-z.
- Basterfield L, Burn NL, Galna B, et al. Changes in children's physical fitness, BMI and health-related quality of life after the first 2020 COVID-19 lockdown in England: A longitudinal study. J Sports Sc 2022;40. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2022. 2047504.10,1088–1096.
- Jayawardena R, Jeyakumar DT, Misra A, et al. Obesity: a potential risk factor for infection and mortality in the current COVID-19 epidemic. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14:2199-2203.
- Wise J. Covid-19: highest death rates seen in countries with most overweight populations. BMJ 2021;372, n623.
- Sanchis-Gomar Lavie CJ, Mehra MR, et al. Obesity and outcomes in COVID-19: When an epidemic and pandemic collide. Mayo Clin Proc 2020;95(7):1445-1453. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.05.006.
- Abhishek S, Garg A, Rout A, Lavie CJ. Association of obesity with more critical illness in COVID-19. Mayo Clin Proc 2020;95(9):2040-2042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mayocp.2020.06.046.
- Sanchis-Gomar F, Lavie CJ, Neeland IJ, Lippi G. Does abdominal obesity influence immunological response to SARS-CoV-2 infection? Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 2021;16(6):271-272. https://doi.org/10.1080/17446651.2021.1979392.
- Lavie CJ, Sanchis-Gomar F, Henry BM, Giuseppe L. COVID-19 and obesity: Links and risks. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 2020;15(4):215-216. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17446651.2020.1767589.
- Keller K, Sagoschen I, Schmitt VH, et al. Obesity and its impact on adverse in-hospital outcomes in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2022;13, 876028. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.876028.
- Marmot M, Allen J. COVID-19: exposing and amplifying inequities. J Epidemiol Community Health 2020;74(9):681-682.
- Franklin BA. Compounders of the COVID crisis: the "perfect storm.". Proc Bayl Univ Med Cent 2022;35(1):133-136. https://doi.org/10.1080/08998280.2021.1961568.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)associated hospitalization surveillance network (COVID-NET). https://www.cdc.go v/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/covid-net/purpose-methods.html Updated December 3, 2021. Accessed December 28, 2021.
- National Center for Health Statistics. Provisional COVID-19 deaths: distribution of deaths by race and Hispanic origin. https://data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Provisional-Death-Co unts-for-Coronavirus-Disease-C/pj7m-y5uh Updated September 15, 2021. Accessed September 15, 2021.
- Abrams EM, Szefler SJ. COVID-19 and the impact of social determinants of health. Lancet Respir Med 2020;8(20):659-661. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20) 30234-4.
- Harrington RA, Califf RM, Balamurugan A, et al. Call to action: Rural heath: A presidential advisory from the American Heart Association and American Stroke Association. Circulation 2020;141(10):e615-e644. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000 0000753.
- Murthy BP, Sterrett N, Weller D, et al. Disparities in COVID-19 vaccination coverage between urban and rural counties – United States, December 14, 2020–April 10, 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70(20):759-764. https://doi.org/10. 15585/mmwr.mm7020e3.
- O'Hearn M, Liu J, Cudhea F, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 hospitalizations attributable to cardiometabolic conditions in the United States: a comparative risk assessment analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2021;10(5), e019259. https://doi.org/10.1161/ JAHA.120.019259.
- Kavanagh KT, Pontus C, Pare J, et al. COVID-19 lessons learned: A global perspective. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2021;10(1):125. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-021-00992-x.

M. Faghy, R. Arena, A.P. Hills et al.

54. Woodward B. Rage. New York: Simon & Schuster. 2020.

- Abd-Elsalam S, Esmail ES, Khalaf M, et al. Hydroxychloroquine in the treatment of COVID-19: a multicenter randomized controlled study. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020;103(4):1635-1639. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.20-0873.
- Gupta Dhyuti, Sahoo Ajaya Kumar, Singh Alok. Ivermectin: Potential candidate for the treatment of Covid 19. Braz J Infect Dis 2020;24:369-371.
- Barda N, Dagan N, Ben- Shlomo Y, et al. Safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA covid-19 vaccine in a nationwide setting. N Engl J Med 2021;385(12):1078-1090. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa2110475.
- Rosenblatt H. No, there isn't a constitutional right to not wear masks. The Washington Post. August 20, 2020. https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2020/08/20/no-t here-isnt-constitutionl-right-not-wear-masks.
- Rhee MSM, Lindquist CD, Silvestrini MT, et al. Carbon dioxide increases with face masks but remains below short-term NIOSH limits. BMC Infect Dis 2021;21(1):354. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-021-06056-0.
- Press Briefing by White House COVID-19 Response Team and Public Health Officials. The White House. Retrieved September 22, 2022, from: https://www.whitehouse.g ov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/07/08/press-briefing-by-white-house-covid-19-response-team-and-public-health-officials-44/ 2022.
- Hartman M, Martin AB, Benson J, et al. National health care spending in 2018: Growth driven by accelerations in Medicare and private insurance spending. Health Aff (Millwood) 2020;39(1):8-17. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01451.
- Li Y, Pan A, Wang DD, et al. Impact of healthy lifestyle factors on life expectancies in the US population. Circulation 2018;138(4):345-355. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032047.
- Marvasti FF, Stafford RS. From sick care to health care-reengineering prevention into the U.S. system. N Engl J Med 2012;367(10):889-891. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMp1206230. [PMID: 22931257; PMCID: PMC4339086].
- Sandesara PB, Lambert CT, Gordon NF, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation and risk reduction: Time to "rebrand and reinvigorate". J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65(4):389-395. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2014.10.059. [PMID: 25634839].
- Khemraj RR, Solano C, Patel NM, et al. Impact of social disparities on cardiovascular disease and COVID-19 outcomes: Barriers to care and preventive interventions. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2022;42(2):84-89. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR. 0000000000000691. [PMID: 35213869].
- Quindry JC, Franklin BA. Exercise preconditioning as a cardioprotective phenotype. Am J Cardiol 2021;1(148):8-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2021.02.030. Epub 2021 Mar 3. PMID: 33675772.
- Sallis R, Young DR, Tartof SY, et al. Physical inactivity is associated with a higher risk for severe COVID-19 outcomes: a study in 48 440 adult patients. Br J Sports Med 2021;55(19):1099-1105. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2021-104080. [Epub 2021 Apr 13. PMID: 33849909; PMCID: PMC8050880].

- Brawner CA, Ehrman JK, Bole S, et al. Inverse relationship of maximal exercise capacity to hospitalization secondary to coronavirus disease 2019. Mayo Clin Proc 2021;96 (1):32-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.10.003. Epub 2020 Oct 10. PMID: 33413833; PMCID: PMC7547590.
- Lavie CJ, Sanchis-Gomar F, Arena R. Fit is it in COVID-19, future pandemics, and overall healthy living. Mayo Clin Proc 2021;96(1):7-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp. 2020.11.013.
- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007;39(8):1423-1434. https:// doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616b27. [PMID: 17762377].
- Franklin BA, Arena R, Kaminsky LA, et al. Maximizing the cardioprotective benefits of exercise with age-, sex-, and fitness-adjusted target intensities for training. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2022;29(1):e1-e3. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjpc/zwaa094. [PMID: 34724044].
- Kompaniyets L, Goodman AB, Belay B, et al. Body mass index and risk for COVID-19related hospitalization, intensive care unit admission, invasive mechanical ventilation, and death - United States, March-December 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70(10):355-361. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7010e4. PMID: 33705371; PMCID: PMC7951819.
- Blackburn G. Effect of degree of weight loss on health benefits. Obes Res 1995;3 (suppl 2):211s-216s. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1995.tb00466.x. [PMID: 8581779].
- 74. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra-virgin olive oil or nuts. N Engl J Med 2018;378(25), e34. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1800389. [PMID: 29897866].
- Naseem KM. The role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular diseases. Mol Aspects Med 2005;26(1–2):33-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2004.09.003. Epub 2005 Jan 24. PMID: 15722114.
- Doll R, Peto R, Boreham J, et al. Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors. BMJ 2004;328(7455):1519. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.38142.554479.AE. [Epub 2004 Jun 22. PMID: 15213107; PMCID: PMC437139].
- Barnoya J, Glantz SA. Cardiovascular effects of secondhand smoke: nearly as large as smoking. Circulation 2005;111(20):2684-2698. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 104.492215. [PMID: 15911719].
- Schmucker J, Wienbergen H, Seide S. Smoking ban in public areas is associated with a reduced incidence of hospital admissions due to ST-elevation myocardial infarctions in non-smokers. Results from the Bremen STEMI registry. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2014;21 (9):1180-1186. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487313483610. [PMID: 23631862].